
JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2010 
Municipal Building, Council Chambers 

 

118 

Roll Call 
Present      Absent  

  Mr. Dunham 
  Mrs. Merz 
  Mr. Birmingham   Vice President Sanchelli 
  President Yocum 

  Lawrence Cohen, Township Attorney 
  Lori Harvin, Township Clerk 
 
 Mrs. Harvin said, “Let the record show that Mayor Felter and Administrator 
James Leach are present. 
 
Salute to the Flag 
 Council President Yocum asked everyone to rise for the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Notice of Presiding Officer 

Council President Yocum said, “This Regular Council meeting for October 20, 
2010, commencing at 7:00 p.m. has been properly noticed in accordance with the Open 
Public Meetings Act by notice to the official newspapers of the Township on October 14, 
2010.” 
 
Proclamation to Celebrate the 40 th Anniversary of the Municipal Alliance and     (118 -A) 
Declare October 23 – 31 Red Ribbon Week 
 Felter asked all the members of the Municipal Alliance, past and present, to 
come forward and he read the Proclamation for the 40th Anniversary of the Municipal 
Alliance and Declared October 23 – 31 Red Ribbon Week.  Merz introduced the 
members of the Municipal Alliance that were able to be present and commented on their 
extensive plans and programs.  Yocum commented on the community work that has 
been accomplished and thanked the members for their involvement. 
 
Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 October 6, 2010 Regular Meeting President Yocum Absent 
  Motion:   Merz, second Birmingham 

  Mr. Dunham   Aye 
  Mrs. Merz   Aye 
  Mr. Birmingham  Aye 
  Vice President Sanchelli Absent 
  President Yocum  Not Voting 

 
Council Reports 
 Merz reported that the Fall Festival will be held on October 23, 2010 at Camp 
Jefferson. 
 
 Birmingham had no report. 
 
 Dunham reported that he attended a Health Conference with the Director of the 
Health Department at the Mercer County College.  Dunham stated that it seems as 
though the State is aiming to consolidate Health Departments. 
 
 Yocum had no report. 
 
Administrative Reports of Mayor and Administrator 
 Felter reported that his son was hurt during a Township Football game and he 
was very pleased with the response of everyone from the Coaches to the Police and the 
Ambulance Squad.  Felter said everyone used their training expertly and acted 
professionally to handle the situation. 
 
 Leach said that notification has been received from the State and a check will 
forthcoming in the amount of $28,000 for the 2008 Recycling Tonnage Report.  Leach 
reported that tomorrow paving will begin on Cove Road in the Nolans Point Section of 



JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2010 
Municipal Building, Council Chambers 

 

119 

Lake Hopatcong. 
 
Miscellaneous/Public Portion 
 Yocum opened the meeting up to the public for questions and comments. 
 
 Kathy Valva of 10 Overhill Terrace came forward and read a letter from the     (119-A) 
Jefferson Township High School Band Parents Association thanking the Council and 
Administration for their support during the Golden Falcon Marching Band Kickoff Classic 
Competition. 
 
 Dan Mullen of 10 Hopi Trail came forward and commented on the bad economic 
times.  Mullen urged the Council to consider not approving the repair of the Lake 
Swannanoa Dam at this time. 
 
 Yocum commented that the Township and the Lake Association were put in this 
position by the State of New Jersey and their assessment of the safety of the dam.  
Yocum said the Township involved the Township Engineer in the design process in an 
effort to lower the total cost of the project, which was originally expected to be well over 
$1 million, to 1/3 or 1/4 of the total cost.  Yocum said the Council is very well aware of 
the economic situation in the State of New Jersey and the Township and it is a very 
serious issue.  The decision has not been made as to who is going to be assessed and 
it will not be made until after there have been public hearings. 
 
 John DeFilippo of Highview Terrace came forward and questioned the award of 
the Garbage Contract to Blue Diamond. 
 
 Wendy DeFilippo of Highview Terrace came forward and said she has concerns 
about Blue Diamond because she has seen them pull their trucks on the wrong side of 
the street while picking up garbage. 
 
 Leach explained that the entire town is a garbage district which is a separate tax.  
Leach explained that money saved in this area cannot be applied to other areas of the 
budget. 
 
 Bill Corby of 52 Lyons Road came forward and questioned why Waste 
Management was only given a one year contract while this year, Blue Diamond received 
a five year contract.  Yocum said that every bid goes out with a one, three and five year 
time period, and it is assessed for the financial costs spread out over those time periods.  
If the advantages for a 3 and 5 year contract are not present, then the Township will go 
with a one year contract.   
 
 Charlie Stesh of Berkshire Valley Road came forward and asked if the Local 
Government Best Practices Checklist has been completed and posted on the website 
yet.  Yocum said that it will be posted.  Leach said he does not know the exact score, 
however, for the last payment, the score was in the 99 percentile. 
 
 Stesh asked about the Garbage Contract and if service outweighed cost.  Yocum 
said that service had to be taken into consideration along with cost.  Felter commented 
that this contract keeps the same level of service and is $12,252 per year less than what 
the town is paying this year. 
 
 Anne Augustyn of 41 Paderewski Road came forward and commented that the 
last meeting with the hearing on the bow hunting buffers became unnecessarily 
controversial.  Augustyn said it was her feeling that the focus was a safety perimeter 
and when it turned into a discussion on lifestyle issues, bigotry and freedom to hunt, it 
was way off the mark.  Augustyn said she would just like to say that 150 feet is a big 
difference from 450 feet and it is a number that should have been retained. 
 
 Yocum said he is aware of what took place at the meeting and there are certain 
topics that arouse very strong opinions which will cause the real facts and issues to be 



JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2010 
Municipal Building, Council Chambers 

 

120 

pushed aside.  Yocum said the ordinance that was proposed was in no way a judgment 
or reflection on any hunters or a decision based on being pro-hunter or anti-hunter.  
Safety was the main reason for the ordinance because of Jefferson’s heavily wooded 
areas side by side with residential areas.  Yocum explained that the Council based their 
decision not only on what took place at the meeting but discussions with residents 
throughout the township who are frustrated with property damage done by deer. 
 
 Bob Murrow of Waste Management came forward and spoke about single 
stream recycling and how all commodities; paper, cans and bottles, are picked up every 
2 weeks.  Murrow stated that Waste Management has very good communication with 
Patty Romano at the DPW Office and he has not heard of service issues. 
 
 DeFillippo came forward and spoke about single stream recycling and all the 
other companies that are taking advantage of this process. 
 
 Yocum closed the public portion of the meeting. 
 
New Business 

• Draft Ordinance #18-10:  Against Dogs Tethered Outside in Inclement Weather 
 Yocum explained that many municipalities have moved in the direction of trying 
to stop having dogs live their life on the end of a chain.  Yocum asked Harvin to obtain a 
sample Ordinance specifying proper shelter for dogs, a tether with a swivel and 
language giving the Animal Control Officer discretion to determine if the dog’s shelter is 
adequate for the breed of dog.  Dunham suggested using Bloomingdale’s Ordinance as 
a model.  Cohen suggested using temperature as a measure because it is something 
tangible that can be used.  Yocum said that the second half of Bloomingdale’s 
Ordinance contains items that are already covered under Title 4 Animal Cruelty Laws in 
the State of New Jersey.  Yocum asked the Clerk’s Office to pass along sample 
ordinances to the Council, Cohen and the Administration.  Merz asked if the Township 
currently has an employee capable of enforcing such an Ordinance.  Yocum said that 
the Township currently employs an Animal Control Officer.  Merz asked where this 
Ordinance generated and Yocum said letters were received from residents. 
 
Resolutions 
 Resolution #10-91:  Award Contract for Residential Garbage and Refuse   
Collection and Disposal and Curbside Collection and Disposal of Recyclable Materials to 
Blue Diamond Disposal, Inc., 2 Howard Blvd., Mt. Arlington NJ in the amount of  
$9,420,000 (Certificate of Availability of Funds) 
 
 Cohen explained that originally the Administration wanted to place the Contract 
on a calendar year and right now the contract expires on November 1.  The Bid amount 
was adjusted as the contract cannot be awarded for more than 5 years because that is 
the statutory maximum.  Leach said the first year was going to be 14 months to bring the 
contract in line with a calendar year, but the contract will not be more than 60 months. 
 
 Birmingham commented that he had a couple conversations with the 
Administration and with Eagen.  Birmingham said he looked at the figures for the five 
year contract.  The Township has the opportunity to provide the same service or possibly 
better with a new hauler for less money.  Birmingham said he did more research and it 
seems as though the only way to save is by going with the single stream recycling.  
Right now, it is not very competitive, because the hauler has to drive all the way to 
Newark to meet the obligation.  Birmingham said he checked with the County and found 
out that they are in the process of opening a facility to handle single stream.  
Birmingham said he has a recommendation for a 3 year contract that includes 14 
months for the first year (to align the contract with the fiscal year) with Blue Diamond at a 
savings of $180,000 and then the town’s hands will not be tied for the extra 2 years.  
Birmingham made a Motion for a 3 year Contract plus two months with Blue Diamond at 
$5,776,000.00 which is $152,000.00 per month. 



JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2010 
Municipal Building, Council Chambers 

 

121 

 Motion:  3 Year Contract plus two months,  
 Blue Diamond, $5,776,000.00 
 Motion:  Birmingham, no Second 
 
 Leach said that last year the garbage disposal rates dropped and the town went 
with a one year contract, hoping that the bid would bring in more than 2 haulers and 
more money would be saved.  There are several issues involved, wages, employee 
health care, fuel costs are low now.  Leach explained that the cost is lower now than it 
was 6 years ago and a decision had to be made whether or not to lock that price in for 5 
years.  It is impossible to tell what the price for diesel will be 3 years from now.  Leach 
said he feels now is a good time to lock in. 
 
 Resolution #10-91:  Award Contract for Residential Garbage and Refuse       (121-A) 
Collection and Disposal and Curbside Collection and Disposal of Recyclable Materials to 
Blue Diamond Disposal, Inc., 2 Howard Blvd., Mt. Arlington NJ in the amount of 
$9,420,000 (Certificate of Availability of Funds) 
 
 Merz said nothing has been said about tipping fees and it should be 
remembered that they are always an issue.  Birmingham said that along with his 
research on the recycling plant coming into the area, there are also studies that show 
that going to single stream recycling lowers the overall tipping fees and gets more of the 
actual recycling into the recycling stream instead of the garbage. 
 
  Motion:   Merz, second Dunham 
   Mr. Dunham   Aye 

  Mrs. Merz   Aye 
  Mr. Birmingham  Not Voting 
  Vice President Sanchelli Absent 
  President Yocum  Aye 

 
 Resolution #10-92:  Approval of Bills            (121-B) 
  Motion:   Dunham, second Yocum 

  Mr. Dunham   Aye 
  Mrs. Merz   Aye 
  Mr. Birmingham  Aye 
  Vice President Sanchelli Absent 
  President Yocum  Aye 

 
 Resolution #10-93:  Authorize Passage of Consent Agenda       (121-C) 
  Motion:   Birmingham, second Yocum 

  Mr. Dunham   Aye 
  Mrs. Merz   Aye 
  Mr. Birmingham  Aye 
  Vice President Sanchelli Absent 
  President Yocum  Aye 
 

Miscellaneous/Public Portion  
 No one came forward. 
 



JEFFERSON TOWNSHIP COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2010 
Municipal Building, Council Chambers 

 

122 

Adjournment at 8:25 p.m. 
Motion:   Merz, second Dunham 

  Mr. Dunham   Aye 
  Mrs. Merz   Aye 
  Mr. Birmingham  Aye 
  Vice President Sanchelli Absent 
  President Yocum  Aye 
Dated:  October 20, 2010 
 
Attested:      Approved: 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ___________________________________ 
Lori Harvin, Township Clerk   Richard W. Yocum, Council President 


